1968

Weyher Construction Company v. Cox Construction Company, Inc., and United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company : Appellants' Brief

NATURE OF THE CASE

This action involves certain claims by plaintiff against both defendants and counterclaims by defendant Cox Construction Company, Inc., (hereinafter called "Cox"), against plaintiff, all arising out of a subcontract agreement entered into between plaintiff and Cox for the performance of certain work by plaintiff on an interstate highway project in Box Elder County, Utah. Plaintiff was a subcontractor; Cox was the prime contractor; and defendant United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company was surety for Cox.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried on special interrogatories to a jury commencing April 30, 1968, and concluding May 6, 1968. The answers of the jury to the special interrogatories were generally in favor of plaintiff and against defendants on the Complaint and against defendant Cox on its Counterclaim. The court made Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and entered judgment in favor of plaintiff and against defendants. Defendants' motions for a directed verdict, for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and for a new trial were denied.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek a reversal of the judgment entered by the district court and a remand of the case to the district court with instructions to proceed as follows:

1. To find that plaintiff was liable to Cox for any damages suffered by Cox resulting from delay caused by plaintiff and delay in the delivery and installation of structural steel.

2. To enter judgment in favor of defendants and against plaintiff on plaintiff's claim for costs incurred because of the delay in the delivery and installation of structural steel.

3. To hold a further hearing to determine the amount of damage suffered by Cox under its Counterclaim by reason of the delay caused by plaintiff and the delay in the delivery and installation of structural steel.

In the alternative, appellants seek a reversal of the judgment entered by the district court and a remand of the case for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The record in the case is lengthy and the facts are rather complicated. However, disposition of the case basically turns on the question who, as between plaintiff and Cox, was responsible to the other for the delay which occurred in the delivery and installation of the structural steel on the project. At the conclusion of the work Cox withheld from the final payment to plaintiff the sum of \$26,972.14, claiming damages in excess of that amount. The judgment awarded plaintiff (1) the balance withheld under the subcontract; (2) damages for delay in completion of plaintiff's work; and (3) attorney's fees. Appellants will attempt to focus on the negotiations, agreements and other facts involving the relationship and dealings among plaintiff, Cox and the supplier of structural steel. In this connection appellants do not contest the award to plaintiff of its costs incurred in dewatering excavations and in flagging traffic.

In the latter part of 1965, the Utah State Department of Highways called for bids for the construction of a bituminous surfaced roadway and four cantilevered steel girder structures in Box Elder County, Utah. There were two projects involved, one for construction of a part of Interstate 15 west of Brigham City from 14th South Street, Brigham City, north to U.S. Highway 30-S, and the other covering construction of the access road to the freeway along 14th South Street from U.S. Highway 89 to Interstate 15. The Interstate 15 work was designated as project No. I-IG-15-8(26)357, and the 14th South Street construction was called project No. F-FG-001-8(4).

Cox was one of the contractors submitting bids to the State of Utah on the project. In the process of preparation of its bid, Cox contacted a number of subcontractors to determine the prices at which it could subcontract different portions of the work. The construction of the structures was a major item in the contract and included both structural concrete and structural steel work, and Cox discussed possible prices on the structural concrete portion of the project with plaintiff and several other subcontractors. (R. 314, 315). In addition, it discussed the structural steel part of the project, which was designated a specialty contract, with Western Steel Company and at least one other steel supplier. (R. 316).

The bids were opened by the State about December 21, 1965, and Cox was the low bidder. About two weeks thereafter, it was awarded the prime contract. On about December 23, 1965, between the time of the bid opening and the award of the prime contract, Cox received a Proposal and Agreement from Western Steel under which Western Steel proposed to deliver and erect the structural steel in place on the project for a total price of about \$240,000. (Ex. P 36, R. 222). Cox did not sign the Agreement at the time it was received because Cox had not yet been awarded the prime contract by the State and had not yet obtained a subcontractor for the structural concrete work, which immediately preceded and followed the steel erection. (R. 317, 318).

On January 10, 1966, following the award of the contract by the State, plaintiff's president, Robert Weyher met with Cecil J. Cox, the president of Cox, at Manti, Utah, at Cox's office. Cox had not yet signed the Proposal and Agreement with Western Steel at the time of this meeting with plaintiff. (R. 318). During the course of the meeting between plaintiff's president and the president of Cox, they discussed the delivery and erection of the structural steel and the proposal from Western Steel. This proposal incorporated in its terms a final completion date for the steel erection of June 30, 1966. (Ex. P 36). The subcontract agreement between plaintiff and Cox, which had been prepared by Cox, required a completion date on the concrete work of June 30, 1966. Before signing the subcontract with Cox, plain-

tiff's president placed a call from Manti to Western Steel to determine whether Western Steel could meet a delivery date of about June 15, 1966, so that plaintiff could complete the required part of the concrete work by June 30, 1966. (R. 82, 83, 84 Ex. 46). Immediately following plaintiff's telephone conversation with Western Steel, plaintiff and Cox signed the Subcontract Agreement. (Ex. 2). The subcontract was prepared on a printed form with certain of the provisions typed in and two handwritten and initialed changes. The following paragraph was typed (R. 320) on page 11:

"Subcontractor of structural concrete will be responsible for ordering the steel and making sure that the steel items will be taken care of in plenty of time so as not to delay his contract.

This will be made part of the subcontractor's contract."

After the Subcontract Agreement with plaintiff had been signed, Cox then executed the Proposal and Agreement from Western Steel Company, dated it January 10, 1966, the date it was signed, and placed it in the mail. (R. 321, Ex. 36). The Proposal and Agreement was received by Western Steel January 12, 1966. (Ex. 46).

Cox received a notice from the State to proceed with the projects on January 12, 1966, which required it to commence work on or before January 22, 1966. (R. 47). The subcontract between plaintiff and Cox provided that plaintiff commence work not later than January 15, 1966, but plaintiff could not do so because work did not commence on the project until January 21, 1966, and it was necessary for Cox to complete certain excavation and pile driving before plaintiff could start its work. On January 21, 1966, Cox started the excavation required for the structural concrete.

In the construction of the structures and the roadbed and surface abutting the structures the following material seteps had to be completed in the indicated order and, so far as relevant here, by the indicated persons:

1. Excavate, drive piles into floor of excevation, fine grade and cut off piles. (Cox).
2. Form and pour concrete pile cap. (Weyher).
3. Form and pour concrete columns. (Weyher).
4. Form and pour concrete column caps. (Weyher).
5. Install structural steel beams. (Western Steel).

6. Form and pour concrete abutment. (Weyher).

7. Form and pour concrete deck. (Weyher).

8. Form and pour concrete approach slab. (Weyher).

9. Place gravel in roadbed abutting structure to specified elevation. (Cox).

10. Place prime coat of oil on gravel. (Cox).

11. Place bituminous base course. (Cox).

12. Place bituminous surface course. (Cox).

(R. 25, 26, 28, 67, 68, 69, 70, 71, 72, 382, 383, 384, Ex. P 2). Each of these steps had to be completed on each of the four structures, but work could be done on more than one structure at a time. The excavation and pile driving had progressed far enough for plaintiff to start its work on the first structure by February 13, 1966. (R. 59). Plaintiff started February 14, 1966, and proceeded from structure to structure with all of the concrete work which could be performed before the installation of the structural steel beams (Step 5), between February 14, 1966 and March 22, 1966. (R. 172). Plaintiff started its work nearly a month later than provided in the subcontract, but it was still able to complete on time all of the work it had planned to do prior to the erection of the structural steel, which plaintiff expected to start about April 1, 1966. (R. 164, Ex. 23).

At the time of the telephone conversation between plaintiff's president and Western Steel Company on January 10, 1966, Western Steel had advised plaintiff that it would begin the erection of the structural steel no later than April 15, 1966 and would try to start by April 1, 1966. (R. 86, Ex. 23). However, because of delays in the shipping and fabrication of the steel, Western Steel made its first delivery of structural steel to the job site on May 24, 1966, and the first erection started on May 28, 1966. (Ex. 28, Ex. 39). A strike by ironworkers started June 1, 1966, and lasted until June 20, 1966, and during this time there was no structural steel erected, although it appears that structural steel was delivered to the job while the strike was in progress. (Ex. 40). Following the strike, erection of the structural steel continued and the steel erection work on all of the structures was completed by August 29, 1966. (Ex. 28). Some 67 days thereafter, on about November 5, 1966, plaintiff completed its subcontract work. (R. 510).

Cox' advance planning of this and other jobs was based upon the assumption that the structures would be completed before it started surfacing the roadway. In the areas of the roadbed adjacent to the structures, it was necessary to have the structures completed, through and including the pouring of the approach slabs, before Cox could build the roadbed surface up against the structures. If the structures had been completed by June 30, 1966, Cox could have run continuously through the

job with its oiling equipment without interruption. (R. 355). However, because of the delay in completion of the structures it was necessary for Cox to adopt a slower method which involved building and oiling the roadbed to a point within one to two hundred feet of each structure and then going around each structure and starting to oil again one to two hundred feet on the other side. Subsequently, after the structures were complete, Cox had to come back and build the roadbed and surface into the structures. The Counterclaim of Cox' basically involved the extra costs and delay incurred by reason of its increased costs for men and equipment due to the delays in completing its work.

From the time of the first contact between plaintiff and Western Steel regarding the construction of the structures, Western Steel coordinated its work directly with plaintiff. (R. 226, 324). In fact, plaintiff's president called Western Steel and advised it that plaintiff had a subcontract with Cox, and plaintiff wanted to know if it would be all right with Western Steel if plaintiff called Western Steel directly on matters of delivery of the structural steel. (R. 234, Ex. 46). From time to time plaintiff contacted Western Steel with reference to availability and delivery of the structural steel. (R. 240).

On March 2, 1966, Western Steel wrote a letter to Cox with a copy to plaintiff setting forth a schedule of delivery of structural steel on the project different from

that given to plaintiff's by President Western Steel in the telephone conversation of January 10, 1966. (Ex. 22). In the letter Western Steel advised Cox and plaintiff that it expected to start shipment of the fabricated steel to the job site on May 1, 1966 and finish fabrication by the end of June. (Ex. 22). Cox did not respond to the change in the schedule announced by Western Steel in its letter of March 2, 1966. (R. 241, 242). On March 4, 1966, after talking with Western Steel about the new delivery schedule, plaintiff wrote Cox advising that because of the delay indicated in the Western Steel letter, plaintiff's performance of its subcontract would be delayed. (Ex. 23). Cox had not been in contact with Western Steel after January 10, 1966, and did not respond to either the letter from Western Steel or plaintiff. There were no changes or modifications to the Cox-Western Steel Agreement according to the Vice President of Western Steel. (R. 233, 241, 242). Cox had no further contact with Western Steel until August 9, 1966, at which time Cox complained by letter because of the delay in the delivery and erection of the structural steel and declared Western Steel to be in default under its contract. (R. 231, Ex. 38).

Following completion of the subcontract by plaintiff and the prime contract by Cox in November, 1966, Cox withheld the sum of \$26,972.14 from the final payments to plaintiff, claiming damages for expenses incurred by reason of the delay in the completion of the

structural steel work and plaintiff's subcontract. Plaintiff brought suit claiming the right to payment of the full contract price and damages for expenses plaintiff incurred by reason of the delay in the erection of the structural steel. The subcontract between plaintiff and Cox provided in Article IX that Cox would not be liable for any delays caused by other subcontractors or material suppliers. Article XIV provided that any claim for damages by plaintiff was waived unless written notice of the claim was given to Cox within five days after the claim arose. Article XV provided that plaintiff accepted the contract price as payment in full for all of the work to be performed and all damages or expenses incurred by plaintiff. Article XVI provided that plaintiff would not be entitled to payment for any delays not paid for by the State. (Ex. 2). Plaintiff did not give Cox notice of its claim for damages due to the structural steel delay until the Complaint was filed in December, 1966. (R. 216).

At the conclusion of trial, over counsel's exceptions, the Court refused to give most of the instructions requested by defendants and plaintiff and gave the jury a total of eight instructions basically stating the following:

1. The interrogatories to be answered by the jury.

2. A statement that there were three possible answers to the first question in the interrogatories.

3. A statement relating to burden of proof.

4. A statement as to credibility of witnesses.

5. A statement outlining the right of the jury to seek further instructions from the Court.

6. A statement of the claims of the parties taken from the pleadings.

7. A statement that the instructions should be read and understood together.

8. An instruction to select a foreman and a statement of the requirement that six members of the jury must concur to answer each question.

The following interrogatories were submitted to the jury, and the Court received the indicated answers.

“1(a). Here set out your finding as to why the delays occurred in connection with the delivery of structural steel onto this job and as to who, if anyone, or what, was responsible for said delays.

Answer: Delay due to steel strike and difficult
fabr. Approx. 30 days in fabr.

1(b). If your answer to the preceding ques-
tion, in effect, places the blame on one of the
parties to this action, then identify here the name
of such party.

Answer: Cox had primary responsibility.

1(c). If you answered the preceding question,
then please here give consideration to any damage
caused to the opposite party by reason of the
failure of the guilty party to seasonably perform,
should you so have determined.

Answer: \$1,226.85 damage against Cox.

- (1) Pl. Ex. 31 Redelivery of forming ma-
terial — disallowed.
- (2) Pl. Ex. 34 Purchase of due form mat-
— disallowed.
- (3) Pl. Ex. 32 Structural stl. delivery del-
— revised*

	<i>Was</i>	<i>Is</i>
*Labor	\$1,621.10	\$ 810.57
Pickup	450.00	225.00
Yard Rental	270.00	190.00
Telephone	16.95	11.57
Total	\$2,358.05	\$1,226.85

2(a). Did defendant Cox hold up plaintiff's operation by failing to seasonably excavate and pile drive? Yes or No.

Answer: No. It did not delay completion of job through column caps.

2(b). If your answer to 2(a) was yes, then here set out how much damage, if any you find, plaintiff has sustained by reason of such delay.

Answer:

3(a). Did defendant Cox fail to de-water the pile cap excavation, thus requiring the plaintiff to do so in order that it might proceed with its own work? Yes or No.

Answer: Yes.

3(b). If your answer to 3(a) was yes, then here set out how much damage, if any you find, plaintiff sustained in this respect.

Answer: \$768.15 in accordance with Pl. 30 less ovhd. & profit.

5(a). Weyher has claimed damage for rental of knee-braces. Is Weyher entitled to recover against Cox for such rental? Yes or No.

Answer: No.

5(b). If your answer was yes to 5(a), here fix such damage, if any.

Answer:

7(a). Did Cox require Weyher to perform flagging for the project? Yes or No.

Answer: Cox did not require Weyher to perform flagging, but Weyher was required to provide flagging because Cox would not as required by State Engineer.

7(b). If your answer to 7(a) was yes, then here set out Weyher's damage, if any.

Answer: \$229.51."

The jury made the following recommendations on page 3 of the verdict:

"1. From the above questions we feel the claims that should be paid Weyher amount to \$2,224.51.**

2. All moneys held back under the contract between Weyher and Cox Construction Company's should by (sic) paid.

3. Based on the evidence presented, we feel that Cox Construction Company claims are not justified.

**\$1,226.85

768.15

229.51

\$2,224.51 Total"

Following denial of defendants' motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, the Court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment against defendants and in favor of plaintiff for the sum of \$2,224.51 on plaintiff's claim for damages and for the sum of \$26,972.14, representing the balance of the contract price, together with interest and attorney's fees. Included in the Findings of Fact were the following:

"2. That Cox entered into a contract with Western Steel Company on January 10, 1966, *after having ordered certain structural steel from Western Steel prior thereto*, which contract was for the fabrication, delivery and erection of structural steel by June 30, 1968; that it was necessary for said steel to be fabricated, delivered and installed on the job before Weyher could complete its subcontract work, and Cox knew or should have reasonably known this fact; that on January 10, 1966, Weyher entered into a subcontract agreement with Cox in reliance upon Cox making the structural steel available so that Weyher could complete by June 30, 1966; Cox knew that Weyher was relying upon the fabrication, delivery and erection of the steel being completed in time; that thereafter on or about March 2, 1966, *Western Steel Company and Cox, without Weyher's consent, modified the said steel agreement by extending the time of fabrication, delivery and erection of steel until some later date subsequent to June 30, 1966, and did further modify the schedule of fabrication, delivery and installation of the steel*, so that it became impossible for Weyher to complete its work by June 30, 1966; that Western experienced difficulty in fabricating the steel,

because of the newness of the type of work, and thus was delayed in its delivery and in the erection of said steel; that Cox was informed of the modified delivery of fabrication scheduled by Western Steel and made no objection thereto, *thus agreeing and permitting the steel to be delivered and erected subsequent to June 30, 1966,* and in fact, on into August, 1966; and that the *said contracting for, ordering and scheduling was performed by Cox* and was of beyond the control of Weyher.

“3. *That Cox having ordered the steel and having agreed with Western Steel to the delayed schedule, made it impossible for Weyher to order the steel to make sure the steel would be taken care of in time and schedule it in accordance with the terms of the subcontract agreement so that Weyher could perform its work properly; that Cox interfered with Weyher's work and thus prevented Weyher from performing under the terms of the subcontract by June 30, 1966; that Weyher was ready at all times to proceed, and it expeditiously proceed under the contract provisions as soon as the steel was erected; that Weyher attempted repeatedly to perform under the said contract, including the following provisions thereof prior to, during and after the steel erection, and would have done so, but for Cox's interference aforesaid; that Cox had ordered the steel and by so ordering it and agreeing to the new scheduling interfered with and made it impossible for Weyher to comply with the following provisions of said contract:*

'Subcontractor of structural concrete will be responsible for ordering steel and making sure that the steel items would be taken care of in plenty of time so as not to delay his contract. This will be made a part of the subcontractor's contract.'

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