1969

Weyher Construction Company v. Cox Construction Company, Inc., and United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company : Respondent's Brief

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

Q. I'll show you what's been marked in this case heretofore as exhibit 22, which is a copy of a letter dated March 2, addressed to Cox from Western Steel, and ask you if you can identify that for us.

A. That's the letter that was written on March second when we outlined to him what kind of commitments we felt we had on the mills for delivery of steel, and where we told him the order in which we had understood that these were to be delivered, and —” (R. 225 and 226, Ex. 22)

Mr. Jensen further testified in answer to Mr. Piercey's question about whether Weyher, later on, had contacted him to expedite the Forest Street bridge:

"A. I can't remember if he did, but if he'd done I'd have had to tell him it was in vain, because we had this absolutely scheduled, our shipments from the mill in a certain order, and I think we at the beginning of this job made a statement that after we set the schedule up it would have to be followed." (R. 239)

3.

Appellants claim at page 29 of their Brief that there is no evidence to support the finding:

". . . that Cox was informed of the modified delivery and fabrication schedule by Western Steel and made no objection thereto thus agreeing to and permitting the steel to be delivered and erected subsequent to June 30, 1966. . . ."

The letter from Western Steel to Cox is not only in response to inquiries from Ronnie Cox (R. 225) but was in response to a letter from Cox dated February 16, which letter is mentioned in the first line. (Ex. 22) Thus the evidence is simply this: In response to a request from Cox orally made and in further response to a written request of February 16, both requests following on the heels of the execution of the agreement between Western Steel and Cox, Western Steel in compliance with the request sets forth its schedule for mill deliveries of the steel for the different portions of the project. Mr. Jensen of Western Steel testified:

“Q. Now I notice that — let’s see. The schedule that appears on this letter of March 2, 1966, indicates the order of delivery to different bridges on the project. As I understand, that was pursuant to a request of Cox, is that true?

A. I think when we first negotiated this contract we decided the order of delivery. I can’t remember whether that was — whether the order of delivery was made at our suggestion. It seems to me it was. We told him it would be more convenient for us to get certain work out. But anyway it was agreeable to the parties and it never became a question of controversy in here from then on, to the best of my knowledge.” (R. 226 and 227)

It is reasonable to infer that Cox agreed to the new schedule. If not and if it intended to hold Western Steel to its original contract completion date, it would have made and should have made some objection to this new schedule. Just as reasonably we must assume that if Cox intended on holding Weyher to his June 30 date, notwithstanding this change in steel schedule, there would have been some duty to respond to the March 2 letter. Just as obviously there should reasonably have been some duty on the part of Cox to respond to Weyher’s letter of March 4, (Ex. 23) in which Weyher objected to this new schedule of Western Steel. The jury and the Court are both certainly entitled to reasonably infer that there was an agreement by Cox for the extension of the steel schedule and there was an agreement or at least a recognition by Cox that Weyher would not be held to the June 30 date.

Appellants seem to contend that once Cox signed the proposal and agreement with Western Steel he had no further responsibility or even any interest in the performance of Western Steel. This does not appear to be reasonable when the following is considered:

(a) The importance of scheduling the completion of each subcontractor's work. (R. 362-364)

(b) The contact by Ron Cox and the letter of February 16, inferentially asking for a commitment on the delivery of the steel. (R. 225-227, Ex. 22)

(c) The letter dated August 9, 1966, addressed to Western Steel asking Western to speed up, which is in the same form as is a letter to Weyer Construction Company. (Exs. 38 and 48)

(d) The payment of \$340,000.00 to Western Steel. (R. 368)

(e) The payment on December 8, 1967, and letter of transmittal indicating the contractual relationship and concern of Cox. (Ex. 45)

(f) The inclusion of Western Steel amongst the other subcontractors under a designation of specialty company in a letter requesting an increase in the prequalification. (Ex. 68, R. 450)

(g) The obvious reference in a letter dated August 30 written to other subcontractors to keep ahead of the operation so as to not delay with the oiling. (Ex. 50)

B. FINDINGS OF FACT NO. 3 IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE

1.

Appellants contend at page 30 that there is no evidence to support the finding,

“That Cox having ordered the steel and having agreed with Western Steel to the delayed schedule made it impossible for Weyher to order the steel. . . .”

Appellants state at page 31,

“It is uncontested that plaintiff knew at the time it signed the subcontract agreement with Cox that Cox was going to enter into a purchase agreement with Western Steel. . . .”

Such an alleged fact certainly is contested. At the time Weyher signed the Cox subcontract he had been informed by Cox and knew that Cox had already entered into the agreement with Western Steel. This prior Western Steel agreement prompted Weyher and Cox to discuss the effect upon Weyher's work of the simultaneous completion dates of June 30 and resulted in a telephone call to Western Steel to see whether or not the delivery date could be accelerated. (R. 81-84) It is obvious that the steel had already been ordered by Western Steel and Weyher could thus not do anything more than coordinate or schedule the steel.

Mr. Weyher testified in response to questions by Mr. Piercey:

“Q. Now tell me what you did between January the tenth and May the 24th with Western Steel with respect to being responsible for ordering the steel and making sure the steel items will be taken care of in plenty of time so as not to delay the contract.

A. I didn't order it, because it was impossible. It had already been ordered by Mr. Cox.

Q. Now, as a matter of fact it had not been ordered until concurrently with the signing of this subcontract; is that correct?

A. You talked about January —

Q. The tenth.

A. Until some future date, and surely it must have been ordered then, and I responded correctly I think.

Q. All right, go ahead and tell me what you did with respect to ordering and making sure the steel items would be taken care of in plenty of time so as not to delay the contract.

A. I didn't do anything in regard to the ordering.

Q. And you didn't do anything with regard to making sure they were delivered in time so as not to delay the contract either, I take it?

A. Yes, I tried to schedule it and I urged them to hurry if they could, because I pointed out we needed to do our work, but I had no control over them, I had no contractual relationship with them.

Q. But as a matter of fact you had assumed the

responsibility under this contract with Cox, hadn't you?

A. No, I had not." (R. 281 and 282)

The coordinating and scheduling, however, was in turn rendered impossible by Western Steel's schedule of March 2. (Ex. 22) Weyher did all it could to coordinate the placing of the steel which is the usual pattern followed in the construction of this type of work. Weyher commenced attempting to coordinate the delivery of the steel after the Cox-Western Steel contract was consummated. (R. 234, 244, 263)

It is highly improbable for a jury or court to assume that Cox would obligate itself with Western Steel for \$340,000.00 upon an agreement to furnish and install steel by June 30, and have no responsibility thereunder. Neither the court or jury made such an unreasonable inference.

2.

Appellants claim at pages 31 and 32, that there is no evidence to support the following:

“. . . that Cox interfered with Weyher's work and thus prevented Weyher from performing under the terms of the subcontract by June 30, 1966 . . . and that Cox had ordered the steel and by so ordering and agreeing to the new scheduling interfered with and made it impossible for Weyher to comply. . . .”

The evidence in support of this finding has been

fairly adequately either summarized or set out in some detail heretofore. Again it should be noted, however:

(a) Cox had, prior to his meeting with Weyher, agreed with Western Steel on the terms of the steel contract, including the June 30 date, had prepared and had typed thereon said terms for delivery of steel.

(b) Cox had already prepared and typed in the subcontract for Weyher including page 11 before Weyher met on the evening of January 10.

(c) The ordering of the steel by Cox to be completed by June 30 had already occurred.

(d) Because of the conflict in the two June 30 dates and also the Gilmore Steel June 30 date, they telephoned Western Steel to determine whether or not the June 30 completion date could be moved ahead by two weeks, and this possible acceleration of the ordering and delivery of the steel was indicated by Western Steel.

(e) In reliance upon the very obvious fact that the steel had to be completed in sufficient time prior to his completion date for him to properly do his work, Weyher undertook its subcontract agreement with Cox.

Appellants persist throughout their Brief in erroneously arguing upon the basis that the Cox-Western Steel agreement was "going to be entered into" at the

time that Weyher signed his subcontract and that the initial purchase from Western Steel constitutes the interference with Weyher's work. Such argument does not go to the actual question of interference. The interference arises out of the contract between Cox and Western Steel, it is true. However, it is based upon the subsequent failure of Cox and Western Steel to adhere to the original contract requirements and by modifying said original completion date of June 30 through the March 2 letter (Ex. 22) and through subsequent delays even beyond those contemplated in said letter. It is this interference which the jury and the Court reasonably infers is not the responsibility of Weyher but actually is under the primary responsibility of Cox, and which forced Weyher into the delay, extending into November.

The provisions of the said contract upon which appellants rely in regard to the structural steel delay must be given meaning in the context of the entire subcontract agreement and in relationship to the circumstances surrounding the development of the delay. When Mr. Cox first took bids on these structures, he contemplated that a subcontractor M. Morrin & Sons would do the entire structure *including furnishing of all steel*. Under this concept, (R. 316) obviously such a paragraph would have materiality. And such a paragraph had been typed up for signature prior to Mr. Weyher's arrival. However, since Mr. Weyher had not proposed to do the steel, and since Cox undertook

the steel work through Western, Weyher very properly questioned this paragraph, and particularly the completion date of June 30.

It is obvious that such a paragraph relates to the actual purchasing and contracting for the structural steel. That paragraph reasonably goes to the very terms which Cox believed were so important, i.e., the price and the completion date of June 30. (R. 364) Therefore, at the time Weyher came into the picture the structural steel had already been purchased and ordered and it was to be completed on that project by June 30. This work was part of the work which Cox had originally contemplated that M. Morrin & Sons would do under a complete subcontract, including both steel and concrete.

The only meaning which can be attached to the paragraph, if it has any meaning in view of the prior agreement between Cox and Western Steel, would be to coordinate the steel to the different and particular portions of the contract work as those portions became available. This coordination, as Weyher and Jensen testified, is the ordinary type of coordination. However, such coordination obviously must be within the framework of the contract between the general contractor and the supplier, to-wit: Cox and Western. Even that type of coordinating and scheduling was taken away from Weyher by the March 2 letter from Western Steel to Cox in which the detailed scheduling of the steel to the different portions of the contract work was

set out. The only thing left for Weyher to do after that was to continually call Western Steel to try to hurry up the delivery and installation of steel in an effort to determine at what point Weyher could commence the different operations on the different structures which followed installation of the steel.

In other words, according to the strict wording of the subcontract paragraph in question, Weyher could not be responsible for ordering the steel and making sure that the steel items were taken care of in view of the contract between Cox and Western Steel with the subsequent amendment to that contract which came into effect by the March 2 letter and thereafter. Weyher did all he could to expedite the steel but as Exhibit 22 shows and as Mr. Jensen testified (R. 239):

“. . . it was in vain because we had this absolutely scheduled, our shipments from the mill in a certain order, and I think we at the beginning of this job made a statement that after we set the schedule up it would have to be followed.”

The contract had already been established between Cox and Western Steel and had already been modified by Cox and Western Steel, over Weyher's objection. (Ex. 23)

Both parties therefore knew at the time that Weyher entered into the subcontract with this provision included therein, that Cox had already purchased the steel, had already established the June 30 completion date of Western Steel, and by conference and joint

telephone call had determined that Western Steel would have the steel finished prior to that June 30 completion date. Thereafter on March 2, after Weyher had commenced the contract to subject Weyher to a modification in the structural steel delivery date over Weyher's objection and classifies it as Weyher's responsibility seems unreasonable to say the least. The evidence does not support such an inference and the jury was justified in finding to the contrary. The Court in Findings of Fact No. 3 properly determined that Cox had made it impossible for Weyher to comply with this provision of the subcontract.

C. THE CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ARE SUPPORTED BY THE FACTS AND ARE CORRECT UNDER THE LAW OF THE CASE

At pages 34 and 35 of their Brief, appellants argue that the Conclusion of Law No. 1 is not supported by the evidence. The facts supporting this conclusion have been set forth above by referring to different portions of the testimony and to the various exhibits. We have shown heretofore that there was substantial evidence to support the jury's verdict and the court's Findings of Fact to the effect that Cox interfered with the performance of Weyher's contract. The conclusion therefore indicates the legal result caused by the interference. Such an interference gives rise to a cause of action on the part of Weyher.

“As a general rule, if a contractor agrees to do certain work within a specified time, and he is prevented from performing the contract by the act or default of the other party, or by the acts of persons for whose conduct the latter is responsible, the delay thus occasioned is excused, and the contractor may not be held liable. . . .” 13 Am. Jur. 2d page 51. See also *Peter Kiewit Sons Company v. Pasadena City Junior College District*, 379 P. 2d 18 (Calif.); and the annotation at 16 ALR 3rd 1252.

The Courts are in accord with the general principle of law that a provision in a construction contract relieving a contractee from liability for delays is not applicable to delays caused by the conduct of the contractee constituting active interference with the performance of the contractor. See *Psaty and Fuhrman v. Housing Authority*, 68 A. 2d 32 (R.I. 1949), annotated in 10 A.L.R. 2d page 805. The question of which party to a construction contract is responsible for a delay in completion is a question of fact for the determination of the trier of the facts. 13 Am. Jur. 2d page 119.

POINT II

THE FINDING OF THE JURY THAT COX WAS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE DELAY IN THE DELIVERY OF THE STRUCTURAL STEEL IS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE

The matters submitted to the jury in Question 1 (a), 1 (b) and 1 (c) involve the factual determination

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